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I.
Introduction


The changes in First-Class Mail service standards that the Postal Service implemented in 2000 and 2001 are inconsistent with several provisions of the Postal Reorganization Act.  The Commission should issue a public report describing these problems and recommending that the Postal Service review the service standards and restore two-day service standards for some or all areas.


The Postal Reorganization Act prescribes fundamental policies governing postal operations.  These policies are mandatory.  The Postal Service cannot choose to implement some and ignore others.  However, in changing First-Class Mail service standards in 2000 and 2001, the Postal Service in fact violated several statutory mandates.  As a consequence, the quality of First-Class Mail service deteriorated in a manner inconsistent with the law.


The changes in service standards implicate several statutory provisions and the policies associated therewith.  Each policy violation individually provides the Commission with jurisdiction, pursuant to 39 U.S.C. § 3662, to hear this complaint.

A.
Adequate Postal Services

The Postal Service must provide adequate postal services.  39 U.S.C. 
§ 3661(a).  In general, the Postal Service can fulfill this requirement by meeting the needs of its customers.  The Postal Service risks violating this requirement when it changes postal services without considering the needs of its customers.

B.
Efficient Postal Services


The Postal Service must provide efficient postal services.  Id.  To meet this requirement, the agency must provide the best possible service within a particular set of operating parameters.  For example, if the Postal Service determines that mail destined for two-day delivery must arrive at a destination processing center by 6 PM, the Postal Service will not be providing efficient service if it assigns a three-day delivery standard to mail that is regularly scheduled to arrive by 6 PM.  In this case, two-day service would be possible.  If a service is possible within established operating parameters, to meet the statutory requirement of efficiency the Postal Service must provide this service.  Matters of mere convenience are not a justification for failing to provide a service.  This conclusion should be intuitive because, in this example, the mail may unnecessarily linger in a postal facility for an extra day.  Rarely does a delivery organization perform efficiently when it allows material entrusted to it for delivery to sit idle longer than necessary.


The concept of efficiency stated in section 3661(a) extends beyond internal considerations.  Efficiency encompasses the effects of Postal Service policies and services on the public and society.  In the previous example, if the Postal Service is able, within established operating boundaries, to provide two-day service, but the Postal Service chooses to provide three-day service instead, the Postal Service needlessly induces customers to spend extra money on higher-level services such as Priority Mail, Express Mail, or overnight and two-day services provided by competitor delivery companies.  When customers select these higher-level services, societal resources are needlessly expended on costly processing and transportation networks when basic First-Class Mail service could provide the same service at a lower cost.  At the same time, the existing processing and transportation infra​structure for First-Class Mail will be underutilized.


In the context of the previous example, the concept of efficiency assumes an added and even more-serious dimension when one considers the Postal Service’s monopoly over First-Class letter mail.  When the Postal Service elects to reduce the level of First-Class Mail service, postal customers, by definition, have no alternative, comparably priced service.  Instead, the Postal Service’s action forces customers to pay for another service that, at minimum, will cost them more than 10 times the rate for a one-ounce First-Class letter.
  Moreover, some postal customers, including the urban poor and elderly people on fixed incomes, cannot afford to upgrade to Priority Mail, let alone Express Mail or another service, to obtain two-day delivery.  Thus, inefficiencies in postal delivery operations can have grave consequences for some customers.

C.
Expeditious Transportation and Delivery of Important Letter Mail


Section 101(e) states:

In determining all policies for postal services, the Postal Service shall give the highest consideration to the requirement for the most expeditious collection, transportation, and delivery of important letter mail.
This section is a powerful mandate to the Postal Service.  Not only must the Postal Service provide expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail, but the Postal Service also must give highest consideration to this requirement in determining all policies for postal services.  This section clearly applies to establishment of and changes to service standards for First-Class Mail.  Moreover, no other factors, no matter how meritorious, can receive greater consideration than expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail.  The implications of this statute to this case will be profound.


Section 101(e) interacts with the efficiency requirement in section 3661(a).  As I explained previously, if the Postal Service could be providing two-day delivery service within established operating parameters but instead is providing only three-day service, the Postal Service is not providing efficient service.  If the Postal Service is not providing efficient service, it probably is not giving highest consideration to the most-expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail, either.


As I will show in section IV, infra, the Postal Service attempted to justify the changes in service standards by asserting that customers prefer consistency to speed.  This statement is dubious on its face.  Even if it were true, the law would not permit the Postal Service to slow mail delivery in the name of improving consistency.  The Postal Service must give the highest consideration to the most-expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail.  “Speed” and “expeditious” are similar concepts; “consistency” and “expeditious” are not.  By law, speed is more important than consistency.

D.
Transportation to Provide Prompt and Economical Delivery of Mail


Section 101(f) states, in part:

In selecting modes of transportation, the Postal Service shall give highest consideration to the prompt and economical delivery of all mail and shall make a fair and equitable distribution of mail business to carriers providing similar modes of transportation services to the Postal Service.
Section 101(f) is similar to section 101(e).  Section 101(f), however, focuses on modes of transportation.  The Postal Service may violate section 101(f) when it shifts the mail from air transportation to surface transportation and adds a day to the service standard for First-Class Mail.


Sections 101(e) and 101(f) interact in an important way for this case.  As I will show, the Postal Service shifted First-Class Mail from air transportation to surface transportation supposedly to increase consistency.  In doing so, the Postal Service failed to give the highest consideration to the most-expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail.  In addition, in replacing air transportation with surface transportation, the Postal Service failed to give the highest consideration to the prompt delivery of mail.  “Speed” and “promptness” are similar concepts; “consistency” and “promptness” are not.

E.
Failure to Request an Advisory Opinion


Section 101(a) recognizes that postal services are a basic and fundamental service that the government provides to the people.  Congress also recognized that changes in the nature of postal services may have a profound effect on the public.  Therefore, section 3661(b) requires the Postal Service to request an advisory opinion from the Commission prior to implementing a change in the nature of postal services that will generally affect service on a nationwide or substantially nationwide basis.  Section 3661(c) requires the Commission to provide a public hearing on the record and to ensure that the interests of the general public are represented.


The Postal Service violated this statute by failing to request an advisory opinion from the Commission before implementing widespread changes in First-Class Mail service standards that changed the nature of postal services, to varying degrees, in 48 states.  Not only did the Postal Service deny the public an opportunity to provide input, but the Postal Service also implemented the changes with no effective notice to the public.  The following evidence supports the conclusion that the Postal Service was required to obtain an advisory opinion from the Commission before implement​ing these changes in service standards.


First, the Postal Service admits that the changes in service standards affected 48 states.  Complaint at 11, ¶ 50; Answer at 15, ¶ 50.  The only states that were not affected by the changes implemented in 2000 and 2001 are Alaska and Hawaii.  Id.  The scope was nationwide.


Second, the Postal Service changed the service standards for over 76,440 origin-destination three-digit ZIP Code pairs affecting all 11 postal areas.
  Complaint at 11, ¶ 49; Answer at 15, ¶ 49.  The delivery speed of a significant volume of two-day and three-day First-Class Mail changed, thus changing the nature of First-Class Mail service.


Third, the changes in First-Class Mail service standards affected approximately nine percent of three-digit ZIP Code pairs nationwide.  Complaint at 12, ¶ 57; Answer at 16, ¶ 57.  Although the changes in First-Class Mail service standards affected approximately nine percent of three-digit ZIP Code pairs nationwide, the changes affected substantially more than nine percent of the three-digit ZIP Code pairs that could reasonably have been considered for changes in two-day or three-day service standards.  First, the ZIP Code pairs in an origin SCF’s overnight delivery area were not candidates for switching between two days and three days.  Second, certain three-digit ZIP Codes in the nearby two-day delivery area did not reasonably constitute candidates for a change to a three-day standard.  Third, and most importantly, a large number of three-digit ZIP Codes represented a distance too far to be considered for inclusion in the two-day delivery area.  For example, for origin SCF’s in the New York Metro Area, SCF’s in the Pacific Area and Western Area — as well as other areas — would not reasonably have been candidates for conversion to two-day delivery.  Therefore, the changes in First-Class Mail service standards represent changes to significantly greater than nine percent of the origin-destination pairs that could reasonably have been considered possible candidates for switching between a two-day service standard and a three-day service standard.  


Fourth, except for Alaska, Hawaii, and the Caribbean, the changes affect 100 percent of the ZIP Codes listed in the 2001 National Five-Digit ZIP Code and Post Office Directory.  See DFC-LR-1.  That is, 100 percent of the ZIP Codes were affected one way or another by at least one change in service standards.


Fifth, the changes in First-Class Mail service standards shifted over 3.4 billion pieces of mail per year from a two-day delivery standard to a three-day delivery standard.  Complaint at 11, ¶ 53; Answer at 15, ¶ 53.  The changes in service standards resulted in a net increase of approximately 22,250 origin-destination three-digit ZIP Code pairs for which the service standard is two days.  Id.  However, the net volume of First-Class Mail subject to a two-day delivery standard instead of a three-day delivery standard decreased by approximately 1.5 billion pieces per year.  Id.  Commission jurisdiction attaches regardless of whether changes in service improve or worsen service.


Moreover, the effect on postal customers residing in the western states (excluding Texas), which are home to 22 percent of our country’s population, was devastating.  As the Postal Service admits, over 99 percent of the changes in the Pacific Area were downgrades from two days to three days. Complaint at 11–12, 
¶ 54 and Answer at 16, ¶ 54.  Over 79 percent of the changes in the Western Area were downgrades from two days to three days.  Complaint at 12, ¶ 55; Answer at 16, ¶ 55.  Appendix 1 of the complaint provides maps detailing the sweeping effect of some of these changes.  See also Complaint at 5, ¶ 23.


The changes in service standards unquestionably triggered section 3661(b).  Unfortunately, the Postal Service elected not to obtain an advisory opinion from the Commission prior to implementing the changes.  This failure represents another calculated decision by the Postal Service not to obtain the public input required by law before changing the nature of postal services in a way that will generally affect service on a nationwide or substantially nationwide basis.
  After implementing the changes, the Postal Service did not bother to inform the public.


Beginning with an important background discussion of mail processing, the following sections will compile, organize, and analyze the evidence in this proceeding to demonstrate that the Postal Service is not providing postal services consistent with the policies of the Postal Reorganization Act.

II.
Overview of Mail Processing


When customers deposit outgoing First-Class Mail, the local post office collects this mail and, in most instances, transports the mail to a large processing facility.  This large processing facility usually is known as a processing and distribution center (P&DC) or processing and distribution facility (P&DF).  Small processing centers are known as customer service facilities (CSF’s).
   For brevity, I will use the term P&DC to refer to P&DC’s, P&DF’s, and CSF’s.  

The P&DC to which customers’ outgoing mail is transported usually is responsible for processing the incoming and outgoing mail for all post offices in one or more three-digit ZIP Code areas.
  All the post offices in the service area of a P&DC send their outgoing mail to, and receive their incoming mail from, the P&DC.
 


When mail is destined to a ZIP Code that is not in the service area of the originating facility, the originating facility usually will sort the mail to a destination sectional center facility (SCF), area distribution center (ADC), or automated area distribution center (AADC).  An SCF is a group of one or more three-digit ZIP Codes.  In most instances, the service area of a P&DC also represents the SCF.  For example, the Suburban Maryland P&DC serves the 208 and 209 ZIP Code areas.  SCF Suburban MD consists of the 208 and 209 ZIP Codes.  An ADC usually is a collection of several three-digit ZIP Codes, although a few ADC’s serve only one three-digit ZIP Code.  An ADC usually includes several SCF’s.  For example, ADC Southern MD includes SCF Southern MD (206 and 207) and SCF Suburban MD (208 and 209).  An AADC is a distribution center for bar-coded letter mail.  An AADC usually serves fewer SCF’s than an ADC.  Often AADC’s are the same size as SCF’s.  For example, AADC Suburban MD includes only ZIP Codes 208 and 209 — i.e., SCF Suburban MD.  


Originating P&DC’s typically sort outgoing mail that is destined outside the state or local regional area to the ADC level.
  An ADC usually is a P&DC in a large city.  When the mail arrives at the ADC, the ADC performs a primary sortation on the mail.  As a result of this primary sortation, the mail will be sorted to a three-digit or five-digit level.  Depending on whether the P&DC that is functioning as an ADC also serves the three-digit ZIP Code area to which the mail is destined, in general the mail will then be either processed further at that P&DC or transported to the P&DC that serves the destination post office for final processing.


Originating facilities usually use the ADC system to sort flats, small parcels and rolls (SPR’s), and letters that cannot be processed on automation.  Originating facilities sort bar-coded letters to the AADC level.  Like an ADC, an AADC also usually is a P&DC in a large city.  When the bar-coded letter mail arrives at the AADC, the AADC performs a primary sortation on the mail.  As a result of this primary sortation, the mail will be sorted to a three-digit or five-digit level.  Depending on whether the P&DC that is functioning as an AADC also serves the three-digit ZIP Code area to which the mail is destined, in general the mail will then be either processed further at that P&DC or transported to the P&DC that serves the destination post office for final processing.  As a consequence of the design, if not the definition, of the AADC network, much of the mail that arrives at an AADC is destined for a post office that is in the service area of the P&DC that is functioning as an AADC.


When outgoing mail is destined to a location outside the service area of the originating P&DC but in the same general geographic area, the originating facility likely will sort the mail to the SCF level, not the AADC or ADC level.  SCF sortation generally sorts the mail to the P&DC that serves the destination post office.  The volume of mail justifies SCF sortation.  For example, the Northern Virginia P&DC will sort mail destined to 20912 to SCF Suburban MD, rather than ADC Southern MD, because the Northern Virginia P&DC has a sufficient volume of mail destined to SCF Suburban MD to justify a separate holdout for this mail.  By bypassing the ADC, the Postal Service reduces the total number of times that this mail is sorted.  Originating facilities perform SCF sortation according to area-level agreements, in response to volume, or to meet service standards.  For example, even if the Northern Virginia P&DC did not have a sufficient volume of outgoing mail to justify a holdout for SCF Suburban MD, the Northern Virginia P&DC probably would hold this mail out nevertheless because an ADC sortation would impede or prevent achievement of the overnight delivery standard for First-Class Mail.  That is, insufficient time would exist for this mail to pass through both the Southern Maryland P&DC and the Suburban Maryland P&DC and still be delivered overnight.


SCF’s, ADC’s, and AADC’s are not mutually exclusive.  That is, the P&DC in Phoenix, Arizona, is the processing facility that processes mail labelled to SCF Phoenix AZ, ADC Phoenix AZ, and AADC Phoenix AZ.

III.
Service Standards Model


The evidence in this proceeding demonstrates that the Postal Service implemented a new national model for two-day and three-day service standards in 2000 and 2001.  The new model differed significantly from the model, or philosophy, underlying the previous service standards.  The Postal Service designed and implemented this model with little or no consultation with customers, no advance notice to the public, and no request for an advisory opinion from the Commission.


The extensive record in this case provides ample explanation of the operation of the new model for service standards.  The essential characteristics of the model are:

1. The volume of mail and the needs of customers were irrelevant to the Postal Service’s determination of whether the service standard between a city pair would be two days or three days.

2. The availability of air transportation to achieve a two-day delivery standard was irrelevant to the Postal Service’s determination of whether the service standard between a city pair would be two days or three days.
3. Three-day delivery within the same state and three-day delivery for bordering regions became permissible results, as did nonreciprocal service standards.
4. The Postal Service established national clearance times (CT’s) and critical entry times (CET’s) for two-day mail.  Under a national CT, no originating P&DC may clear its originating two-day mail after the CT.  The national CT is 02:30.  With a national CET, no ADC may require two-day mail destined to that ADC to arrive prior to the CET.  The CET is 18:00.  The CET is the latest time that mail can be planned to arrive at the destination ADC and still be expected to be processed in time to make delivery on the intended delivery day.  

5. The Postal Service used a computer program to project a drive time by truck between each origin P&DC and destination ADC.  If the projected drive time was 12.049 hours or less, the Postal Service considered the destination eligible for a two-day service standard.  If the drive time was 12.05 hours or more, the Postal Service considered the destination eligible for a three-day service standard.  

6. When the computer-projected truck drive time is more than 12 hours, the Postal Service continues to impose a three-day service standard even if the mail actually is scheduled to arrive at the destination ADC before the CET of 18:00.

7. The projected drive time by truck dictated the service standards, even if the Postal Service used, or continues to use, air transportation to transport the mail.

8. The Postal Service used a projected drive time by truck from the origin P&DC to the destination ADC, even if the originating P&DC performed SCF-level sortation, thus allowing the mail to bypass sortation at the ADC, and even if the mail from the origin P&DC was transported directly to the destination P&DC without a stop at the destination ADC.

9. In some instances, the destination ADC used for the projection of the 12-hour drive time is not the P&DC that actually processes the mail for that destination ADC.

A.
Mail Volume and Needs of Customers Were Not Considered


The Postal Service changed the service standards for First-Class Mail without considering the needs of customers for two-day service.  Moreover, volume, which may be a proxy for the needs of customers, was not a consideration when the Postal Service changed the service standards.  DBP/USPS-19(b).


In Docket No. N89-1, the Postal Service considered a volume of mail from an origin P&DC to a destination ADC of at least 0.5 percent of the originating P&DC’s volume to be significant enough to warrant consideration for two-day delivery.  PRC Op. N89-1 at 8–9.  My review of volume data provided under protective conditions in USPS-LR-10 suggests that an originating P&DC’s volume to a destination ADC continues to be noteworthy starting at about 0.5 percent of the originating P&DC’s volume.  


Consistent with the methodology of Docket No. N89-1, USPS-LR-15 provides a list of origin-parent-P&DC-to-destination-ADC pairs whose volume is 0.5 percent or greater of the origin P&DC’s originating volume.  To restrict the analysis to a manageable scope, USPS-LR-15 provides this information only for pairs originating in Washington, Oregon, California, Idaho, Nevada, Utah, Arizona, New Mexico, Colorado, Montana, Wyoming, and New Jersey.  DFC-LR-1 contains a spreadsheet that shows all three-digit ZIP Code pairs that suffered a downgrade in the service standard.  Unfortunately, I do not have the resources to perform the extensive and largely manual process of merging the data in USPS-LR-15 and DFC-LR-1 to quantify the number of downgraded three-digit ZIP Code pairs for which the volume exceeded the 0.5-percent threshold.  However, to illustrate the general point that the number of pairs and the cities involved are significant, I have listed the changes in service standards for mail destined to San Francisco (which is located in ADC Peninsula CA) and noted the pairs for which the volume to this ADC exceeded the 0.5-percent threshold:

Out-of-State

	Origin ZIP
	Origin P&DC
	Dest. ZIP
	Destination ADC
	Downgraded From

2 Days to 3 Days

	800
	DENVER CO
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	808
	COLORADO SPRINGS CO
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	820
	CHEYENNE WY
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No


	836
	BOISE ID
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	840
	SALT LAKE CITY UT
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	852
	PHOENIX AZ
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	856
	TUCSON AZ
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	870
	ALBUQUERQUE NM
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	890
	LAS VEGAS NV
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	894
	RENO NV
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	970
	PORTLAND OR
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	980
	SEATTLE WA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	983
	TACOMA WA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes

	990
	SPOKANE WA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	Yes


In-State

	Origin ZIP
	Origin P&DC
	Dest. ZIP
	Destination ADC
	Downgraded From

2 Days to 3 Days

	900
	LOS ANGELES CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	902
	INGLEWOOD CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	907
	LONG BEACH CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	910
	PASADENA CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	913
	VAN NUYS CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	917
	INDUSTRY CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	920
	SAN DIEGO CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	923
	SAN BERNARDINO CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	926
	SANTA ANA CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	932
	BAKERSFIELD CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	934
	SANTA BARBARA CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	936
	FRESNO CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	940
	SAN FRANCISCO CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	945
	OAKLAND CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	949
	NORTH BAY CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	950
	SAN JOSE CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	952
	STOCKTON CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No

	956
	SACRAMENTO CA
	941
	ADC PENINSULA CA
	No



The Postal Service may not be meeting the needs of its customers, particularly in the Western states.

B.
Availability of Air Transportation Was Irrelevant


In downgrading service standards, the Postal Service did not consider the availability of air transportation.  Instead, the model was explicitly designed to shift two-day mail to surface transportation and to exclude two-day service standards when the projected drive time by truck exceeded 12 hours.  Declaration of Charles M. Gannon (“Declaration”) at ¶ 27.  


The Postal Service also failed to consider whether reliable air transporta​tion between some city pairs was available.  In addition, the Postal Service failed to consider whether air transportation between some city pairs was available that, although perhaps not 100-percent reliable, would have been reliable enough to provide customers with better service than three-day delivery by truck.


Without providing much quantitative or other persuasive data, the Postal Service complained that air transportation for two-day mail was too unreliable for two-day delivery.  While I do not doubt that air transportation between some city pairs was problematic, I do not believe that air transportation between all city pairs whose service standard was downgraded from two days to three days was unreliable.  In fact, in the western states, which suffered most severely from the national model’s failure to consider the needs of customers and the availability of air transportation, large numbers of flights exist between the major population centers.  Since these flights generally are short-haul flights, and passenger baggage generally is light, I doubt that weight limits frequently prevented the airlines from transporting mail that they were scheduled to carry.


The Postal Service failed to consider using dedicated air transportation as an alternative to ground transportation to retain speed while replacing supposedly unreliable commercial air transportation.  Dedicated air transportation is not merely a theoretical possibility.  In recent years, the Postal Service has acquired a considerable amount of dedicated air transportation from FedEx; in fact, I understand that FedEx now carries a significant portion of the nation’s mail.  The Postal Service implemented many of these changes in service standards before or during the early days of implementation of the contract with FedEx.  The absence of air transportation reliable enough to provide faster service than the current three-day service standards is even more dubious now than it was when the Postal Service changed the service standards in 2000 and 2001.  At a minimum, the Postal Service should consider restoring two-day delivery service between many city pairs and using FedEx to transport this mail.

C.
Actual Truck Drive Time Was Irrelevant


The Postal Service’s model relied on projected drive times produced by a computer program.  The model applied a formula, without further consideration of actual conditions.  If the computer projected a drive time of 12.05 hours or more, the Postal Service changed the service standard to three days.  The Postal Service ignored the fact that, in some instances, the actual drive time permits the mail to arrive prior to the critical entry time.  Consequently, some customers are receiving three-day mail service because the computer suggested a drive time of 12.05 hours or more, but in reality their mail is arriving at the destination ADC before the critical entry time, and therefore the mail could qualify for two-day delivery under current operating parameters.


For example, the truck that transports ADC Los Angeles CA and ADC Sequoia CA mail from Reno to the Los Angeles P&DC arrives at 17:40, 20 minutes prior to the CET for two-day mail.  DFC/USPS-GAN-58(d).  The Postal Service could provide two-day service to customers in ADC Los Angeles CA and ADC Sequoia CA using surface transportation, regardless of the travel time that the computer estimated, because transportation in fact exists to achieve two-day delivery by surface transportation, the Postal Service’s preferred method.  Actual transportation conditions should supersede a computer model.  If transportation exists to provide two-day service, as it does between Reno and the Los Angeles metropolitan area, the service standard for First-Class Mail should be two days.  Further discussion of this example appears in section III.E, infra.

More examples exist.  The Postal Service changed the service standard for mail from San Francisco to San Diego from two days to three days.  The Postal Service gave no consideration to the needs of postal customers for two-day delivery from California’s fourth-largest city to California’s second-largest city.  Instead, the service standard changed because a computer program projected a drive time of 12.1 hours.  Similarly, the service standard for mail from SCF North Bay CA, which includes San Rafael and Santa Rosa, changed from two days to three days because the computer projected a drive time of 12.8 hours.  Mail from Oakland, which is located across a short bridge from San Francisco, has a two-day delivery standard to San Diego because the projected drive time is 11.7 hours.  A look at reality, however, shows that these Northern California postal customers should be receiving two-day service to their state’s second-largest city.  The truck from San Francisco to San Diego arrives at the San Diego P&DC at 17:30, 30 minutes before the critical entry time.  DFC/USPS-GAN-64.  The critical entry time is defined as the last planned time at which an incoming facility can accept mail and still be expected to make delivery within the scheduled service standard.  Declaration at ¶ 12.  Mail from the North Bay P&DC is transferred through the San Francisco P&DC and transported on the same truck as the mail from San Francisco.  Consequently, the Postal Service already has the transportation in place to provide two-day delivery to San Diego from San Francisco and North Bay.  As proof, in FY 2002, approximately 73 percent of the mail was delivered in two days, and the average number of days to delivery was 2.2.  USPS-LR-14.  Nonetheless, the Postal Service chooses to provide three-day service, forcing customers who need two-day service to upgrade to expensive products such as Priority Mail and Express Mail.


Interestingly, customers in the San Jose area receive two-day service to San Diego, even though the truck carrying their mail arrives in San Diego at 18:30, 30 minutes after the critical entry time.  The projected drive time is 11.3 hours.  Since San Jose is located south of San Francisco, the later arrival time probably is a function of a later departure time.  In any event, this example should show the extent to which the service standards in some California cities are divorced from reality.


I appreciate the convenience and simplicity of a uniform national model.  However, as the Postal Service well knows, our nation is not uniform.  The Postal Service must examine actual circumstances.  This uniform national model led to absurd results when the changes in service standard were implemented, and I am aware of only one instance in which the Postal Service has allowed common sense and the needs of customers to prevail: In 2002, the Postal Service restored two-day mail delivery between Reno and Las Vegas, even though the national model initially downgraded service to three days.  See section V, infra.

D.
Continued Use of Air Transportation Was Irrelevant


In some instances, the Postal Service used air transportation between two cities when the service standard was two days, lauded the benefits of surface transportation over air transportation, projected a truck drive time of 12.05 hours or more, changed the service standard to three days, and then continued to use air to transport the mail.  However, the downgrade in the service standard remained.  One classic example is Miami to Columbia, SC.  DBP/USPS-85(o).

E.
The Failure of the National Model in California


The interaction of the national model for service standards with the ADC network in California leads to glaring examples of mail needlessly being delayed until the third day.  


Table 1 on pages 19–22 summarizes the distribution network in California.  The table shows the name of each ADC, the location of the facility that processes incoming mail to the ADC, the SCF’s in each ADC, the processing facilities within each SCF, and the ZIP Codes that each ADC and SCF serves.  The map in Figure 1 on page 23 also will provide a useful reference.

Table 1.  ADC Network Serving California

	ADC Name
	Actual ADC Processing Facility
	ADC Mapping for Model
	SCF’s Served
	Processing Facilities
	ZIP Codes Served

	ADC Los Angeles CA
	Los Angeles P&DC
	Los Angeles P&DC
	SCF Los Angeles CA
	Los Angeles P&DC
	900–901

	ADC Twin Valley CA
	Los Angeles P&DC
	Santa Clarita P&DC
	SCF Inglewood CA
	Marina P&DC
	902–905

	
	
	
	SCF Long Beach CA
	Long Beach P&DC
	906–908

	
	
	
	SCF Pasadena CA
	Pasadena P&DC
	910–912

	
	
	
	SCF Van Nuys CA
	Santa Clarita P&DC
	913–916

	
	
	
	SCF Industry CA
	Industry P&DC
	917–918


Table 1.  ADC Network Serving California (cont’d)

	ADC Name
	Actual ADC Processing Facility
	ADC Mapping for Model
	SCF’s Served
	Processing Facilities
	ZIP Codes Served

	ADC San Diego CA
	San Diego P&DC
	San Diego P&DC
	SCF San Diego CA
	San Diego P&DC
	919–921

	ADC Sequoia CA
	Los Angeles P&DC
	Santa Ana P&DC
	SCF San Bernardino CA
	San Bernardino P&DC
	922–925

	
	
	
	SCF Santa Ana CA
	Santa Ana P&DC
	926–927

	
	
	
	
	Anaheim P&DF
	928

	
	
	
	SCF Oxnard CA
	Oxnard P&DC
	930

	
	
	
	SCF Santa Barbara CA
	Santa Barbara P&DC
	931, 934

	
	
	
	SCF Bakersfield CA
	Bakersfield P&DC
	932–933

	
	
	
	SCF Mojave CA
	Mojave CSF
	935


Table 1.  ADC Network Serving California (cont’d)

	ADC Name
	Actual ADC Processing Facility
	ADC Mapping for Model
	SCF’s Served
	Processing Facilities
	ZIP Codes Served

	ADC Sierra CA
	San Francisco P&DC
	San Jose P&DC
	SCF Fresno CA
	Fresno P&DC
	936–938

	
	
	
	SCF Salinas CA
	Salinas P&DF
	939

	
	
	
	SCF Oakland CA
	Oakland P&DC
	945–948

	
	
	
	SCF San Jose CA
	San Jose P&DC
	950–951

	
	
	
	SCF Stockton CA
	Stockton P&DC
	952–953

	
	
	
	SCF Sacramento CA
	Sacramento P&DC
	942, 956–958

	
	
	
	SCF Marysville CA
	Marysville P&DF
	959

	
	
	
	SCF Redding CA
	Redding CSF
	960


Table 1.  ADC Network Serving California (cont’d)

	ADC Name
	Actual ADC Processing Facility
	ADC Mapping for Model
	SCF’s Served
	Processing Facilities
	ZIP Codes Served

	ADC Peninsula CA
	San Francisco P&DC
	Oakland P&DC
	SCF San Francisco CA
	San Francisco P&DC
	940–941, 943–944

	
	
	
	SCF North Bay CA
	North Bay P&DC
	949, 954

	
	
	
	SCF Eureka CA
	Eureka CSF
	955

	Mini-ADC Reno NV
	Reno P&DC
	Reno P&DC
	SCF Reno NV
	Reno P&DC
	961, 894–897


Figure 1.  Processing Map of California
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Source: 2003 National Five-Digit ZIP Code and Post Office Directory


The ADC network for California differs slightly compared to the network for other states in one important way.  This difference has significant consequences for service standards in California.  California has four “pseudo ADC’s.”  In Southern California, they are ADC Twin Valley CA and ADC Sequoia CA.  In Northern California, they are ADC Peninsula CA and ADC Sierra CA.  These pseudo ADC’s are treated as if they were traditional ADC’s bearing the name of a city — i.e., originating facilities around the country label and dispatch their mail to these pseudo ADC’s.  For example, the Northern Virginia P&DC likely sorts and labels First-Class flats destined to Pasadena, California (911), to ADC Twin Valley CA.


Of course, real facilities process the mail for the pseudo ADC’s.  Table 1 identifies the P&DC that actually receives and processes mail destined to each pseudo ADC.  In short, the Los Angeles P&DC processes the mail for the two pseudo ADC’s in Southern California, and the San Francisco P&DC processes the mail for the two pseudo ADC’s in Northern California.


When the Postal Service implemented the national model for service standards, the Postal Service permitted the Pacific Area to designate any P&DC to be the P&DC associated with the pseudo ADC for purposes of mapping 12-hour drive times.  Once these values were entered, the computer calculated the drive time from the origin P&DC to the supposed destination ADC — i.e., the P&DC that the Pacific Area designated solely for the computer drive-time calculation.  The Pacific Area designated the Santa Clarita P&DC
 as the P&DC associated with ADC Twin Valley CA and the Santa Ana P&DC as the P&DC associated with ADC Sequoia CA.  Once again, the mail for both ADC’s is actually processed at the Los Angeles P&DC, not in Santa Clarita or Santa Ana.  

For Northern California, the Pacific Area designated the San Jose P&DC as the P&DC associated with ADC Sierra CA and the Oakland P&DC as the P&DC associated with ADC Peninsula CA.  The mail for both ADC’s is actually processed at the San Francisco P&DC.  The designation of the Oakland P&DC as the P&DC associated with ADC Peninsula CA is perplexing at first glance because the Oakland P&DC is actually part of ADC Sierra CA; but ADC Sierra CA is mapped to the San Jose P&DC for the purpose of calculating truck drive times.  The gray column in Table 1 identifies the P&DC with which each ADC was associated for calculating truck drive times.  These designations also are reflected in USPS-LR-1 (file OCA-12B-2, worksheet “Final Network Structure”).


The designation of pseudo P&DC’s associated with pseudo ADC’s has consequences for the level of service that postal customers receive.  In some instances, by fooling the model, or at least the computer drive-time calculator, some service standards were saved from a downgrade from two days to three days.  However, with further refinement, the Postal Service could have provided two-day delivery instead of three-day delivery for more mail, thus giving better consideration to the transportation and expeditious delivery of important letter mail, as section 101(e) requires.  Moreover, the Postal Service could have avoided results that, by any reasonable measure, are illogical and detrimental.


Consider mail deposited in the service area of the P&DC in Reno, Nevada.  The Reno P&DC processes mail for northern Nevada as well as a section of northeastern California in the Sierra Nevada mountain region (including the Lake Tahoe area).
  USPS-LR-1 (file OCA-12B-2, worksheet “Final Network Structure”) indicates the following projected drive times to the three central Los Angeles–area ADC’s:

ADC Los Angeles CA
12.1

ADC Twin Valley CA
11.3

ADC Sequoia CA
13.0

As I explained previously, the mail destined and labelled to all three ADC’s actually is processed at one facility — the Los Angeles P&DC.  The drive times are different because the Pacific Area designated the Santa Clarita P&DC as the P&DC for the computer to use to calculate the truck drive time from every origin P&DC, including Reno, to ADC Twin Valley CA.  Similarly, the Pacific Area associated ADC Sequoia CA with the Santa Ana P&DC.  The Santa Clarita P&DC happens to be sufficiently closer to Reno than the Los Angeles P&DC and the Santa Ana P&DC to reduce the drive time to less than 12 hours.  By virtue of this sleight of hand, the ZIP Codes associated with ADC Twin Valley CA have a two-day service standard from Reno, while the remainder of the central Los Angeles area, which, for some reason, was not the beneficiary of similar trickery, has a three-day service standard from Reno (and from many cities in northeastern California — the same state).


The situation actually is worse than it seems at first glance.  All the destination SCF’s in ADC Twin Valley CA are AADC’s.  Therefore, Reno and other originating P&DC’s sort and label bar-coded letter mail to AADC Inglewood CA, AADC Long Beach CA, AADC Pasadena CA, AADC Van Nuys CA, or AADC Industry CA.  No bar-coded letter mail is actually sorted to a level less fine than the destination SCF itself.  The mail from Reno is transported to the Los Angeles P&DC, where the AADC-labelled mail is transferred on the dock to trucks to the destination P&DC (which is also the destination SCF and the destination AADC).  Thus, mail from Reno to the SCF’s (AADC’s) in ADC Twin Valley CA first goes to the Los Angeles P&DC, then is routed to the destination P&DC for two-day delivery.
  Meanwhile, mail from Reno to ADC Los Angeles CA and ADC Sequoia CA has a three-day service standard, even though this mail could be transported along with the two-day mail destined to ADC Twin Valley CA.  In fact, the mail destined to ADC Los Angeles CA would arrive at its destination P&DC before the AADC mail destined to the outlying P&DC’s that comprise ADC Twin Valley CA.  Yet the ADC Los Angeles mail has a three-day delivery standard, while the mail to ADC Twin Valley CA has a two-day delivery standard.


Moreover, flats, SPR’s, and nonmachinable letters destined to ADC Twin Valley CA usually must be sorted first at the Los Angeles P&DC, then transported to the destination P&DC’s.  The service standard from Reno for this mail is two days.  Flats, SPR’s, and nonmachinable letters destined to ADC Los Angeles CA also must be sorted at the Los Angeles P&DC.  The Los Angeles P&DC is the destination P&DC for ADC Los Angeles CA mail.  But the service standard for the ADC Los Angeles CA mail — which arrives at its destination P&DC faster than the ADC Twin Valley CA mail arrives at its destination P&DC — is three days.

In sum, all the mail goes to the Los Angeles P&DC first.  When mail labelled to ADC Los Angeles CA arrives at the Los Angeles P&DC, it has arrived at its destination facility.  Mail labelled to ADC Twin Valley CA arrives at the Los Angeles P&DC as well.  But mail destined for P&DC’s in ADC Twin Valley CA must stop at the Los Angeles P&DC first, possibly be sorted, and then be transported to its destination P&DC.   Illogically, the service standard for ADC Los Angeles CA is three days, while the service standard for ADC Twin Valley CA is only two days.  This counterintuitive result occurs because the Postal Service tricked the computer mapping program into thinking that ADC Twin Valley CA was located in Santa Clarita, a northern suburb of Los Angeles.

This example demonstrates further problems.  The truck that transports mail from Reno to the Los Angeles P&DC arrives at 17:40, 20 minutes prior to the CET for two-day mail.  DFC/USPS-GAN-58(d).  Thus, the Postal Service seemingly could provide two-day service to customers in ADC Los Angeles CA and ADC Sequoia CA using surface transportation, regardless of the travel time that the computer estimated, because transportation in fact exists to achieve two-day delivery by surface transportation, the Postal Service’s preferred method.  Actual transportation conditions should supersede a computer model.  When transportation exists to provide two-day service, as it does between Reno and the Los Angeles metropolitan area, the service standard for First-Class Mail should be two days.

Several conclusions should be obvious.  First, if the Postal Service was willing to manipulate the model for ADC Twin Valley CA, a similar manipulation should have been possible for ADC Los Angeles CA and ADC Sequoia CA.  Second, if two groups of mail can arrive at a P&DC prior to the CET for two-day mail, and if one group of mail is destined for that P&DC while the other group is destined for another P&DC downstream, the service standard for the mail destined to the first P&DC should be at least as good as the service standard for the mail that is destined to another P&DC downstream.  Third, blind reliance on a model, without considering actual experience or facts, leads to suboptimal outcomes.  Fourth, this situation is yet another example of the Postal Service’s failure to consider volume.  An examination of the volume data provided under protective conditions will show that SCF Los Angeles CA receives a noteworthy amount of mail from the Reno P&DC compared to the volume of mail that the Reno P&DC sends to most other SCF’s in the central Los Angeles area.  Fifth, the Postal Service’s continued voluntary and optional use of air transportation to transport two-day mail from Reno to the Los Angeles P&DC for ADC Twin Valley CA casts doubt on the Postal Service’s professed dissatisfaction with air transportation and its justification for constricting two-day delivery areas, particularly in the western states.  In fact, the Postal Service’s continued use of air transportation in place of available and sufficient ground transportation undermines the entire justification for the changes in service standards and raises a question of why many other downgrades in service standards from two days to three days should not be reversed because air transportation is available to achieve two-day delivery.

For mail from Reno to ADC Los Angeles CA and ADC Sequoia CA, the Postal Service clearly is not providing efficient service because the Postal Service could be providing two-day delivery service within one of the constraints of its own national model — arrival of two-day mail by the 18:00 CET.  Numerous other examples surely exist in which the Postal Service could be providing two-day service using air transportation — for example, from Reno to San Diego or Seattle to Los Angeles.

In this example, the Postal Service unquestionably has failed to meet its statutory obligation to give the “highest consideration to the requirement for the most expeditious collection, transportation, and delivery of important letter mail.”  39 U.S.C. § 101(e).  These seemingly arbitrary service standards needlessly lower the value of First-Class Mail service and force customers into higher-priced products such as Priority Mail, Express Mail, or competitor delivery services when customers need delivery in fewer than three days.  Section 101(e) arguably exists to prevent the Postal Service from establishing its own self-serving criteria to set delivery standards for basic First-Class Mail.

The Postal Service might respond by asserting that service standards for mail from Reno to Southern California would have been three days to all destinations absent manipulation of the model.  While this statement would be true, it would ignore the larger statutory mandate to provide efficient service and to give the highest consideration to the requirement for the most expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail.  The partial manipulation of the model proves that further manipulation could, logically and practically, have provided better service for an even larger volume of mail.  The United States is too large and diverse for blind application of a nationwide model.  The situation in California and the western states proves that one size does not fit all. 

Reno provides a further example of the dangers of blind reliance on a national model.  Several service standards between Southern California and Reno are not reciprocal.  As I have discussed, all the SCF’s in ADC Twin Valley CA receive two-day service from Reno due to their fictitious association with the Santa Clarita P&DC.  In the reverse direction, the model calculates drive time from the actual origin P&DC to the destination ADC.  Within ADC Twin Valley CA, only mail originating from the Santa Clarita P&DC qualifies for two-day service to Reno; mail originating at the Marina, Long Beach, Pasadena, and Industry P&DC’s receives three-day service.  It is possible that mail from all these P&DC’s shares the same transportation out of Los Angeles.  In addition, SCF Mojave CA receives two-day service to Reno because of its proximity to Reno and its association, for purposes of the model, with the Santa Clarita P&DC as the parent P&DC.  But the service standard from Reno to SCF Mojave CA is three days because SCF Mojave CA is in ADC Sequoia CA, and ADC Sequoia CA is arbitrarily associated with the Santa Ana P&DC, deep in Orange County — a P&DC that never sees incoming mail destined to Mojave.  This example is not simply a theoretical exercise of little practice consequence.  The county seat of Mono County, California, is Bridgeport.  Bridgeport is in SCF Mojave CA.  At least two post offices in northern Mono County are in SCF Reno NV.
  The service standard for some mail delivery within Mono County is three days in the southbound direction and two days in the northbound direction — all because the Postal Service decided to allow a nationwide computer model to dictate service standards.

The national model also creates nonreciprocal service standards between Northern California and Oregon.  The service standard for mail from SCF Redding CA 960 to SCF Medford OR 975 and SCF Klamath Falls OR 976 is one day.  The service standard in the reverse direction, for adjacent geographic areas, is three days.

The nonreciprocal service standards are further examples of inconsistencies with sections 101(e) and 101(f).

IV.
Consistency Versus Speed


To attempt to justify slowing mail delivery from two days to three days, the Postal Service asserts that customers prefer consistency to speed.  PRC Op. N89-1 at 33.  This novel argument is not new.  The Postal Service floated it during the Docket No. N89-1 proceeding, the last Commission proceeding to review proposed changes in First-Class Mail service standards.  The Commission found the evidence in that proceeding to be unconvincing.  Id.  More than 12 years later, the Postal Service continues to suggest this implausible assessment of customer desires.  Evidence that was unconvincing in Docket No. N89-1, when most Americans had never even heard of the Internet, carries even less weight in our current information era, where people demand real-time access to information and expect speed in the conduct of life and business.  Intuitive arguments aside, the Postal Service’s preference for consistency over speed is inconsistent with section 101(e), which requires the Postal Service to give “highest consideration to the prompt and economical delivery of all mail.”


The term consistency is open to two possible definitions.  Under the first definition, mail delivery would be consistent if mail were delivered within the time period prescribed by the service standard.  For example, suppose that the service standard between two cities is three days.  Delivery will be perfectly consistent if 100 percent of the mail is delivered in three days or fewer.  Under this definition, delivery also will be perfectly consistent if 50 percent of the mail is delivered in two days and 50 percent is delivered in three days.  Either way, the Postal Service will report delivery performance as 100 percent on time.  

Under this definition, if given a choice, customers presumably would prefer to receive 50 percent of their mail in two days and 50 percent of their mail in three days than to receive 100 percent of their mail in three days.  These customers would be even more satisfied if they received 90 percent of the mail in two days and 10 percent of the mail in three days.  No reason exists to believe that customers who need mail delivered in three days would be disappointed if the mail were sometimes delivered in two days for the same price.  These customers value delivery within the time period prescribed by the service standard, so to this extent they value consistency.  That is, they value delivery service that does not exceed the number of days prescribed by the service standard.  However, these customers also prefer to receive their mail as quickly as possible.

In fact, most customers do not know the Postal Service’s delivery standard for the mail that they send.  Therefore, customers are not specifically interested in the percent of time in which the Postal Service achieves a standard that they do not even know.  Customers are primarily concerned with speed, not achievement of delivery within a time period of which they are not aware.  For most customers, faster is better.


Under the second definition, mail delivery would be consistent if mail were delivered in a particular number of days.  Again, suppose that the service standard is three days.  Delivery will be perfectly consistent if 100 percent of the mail is delivered in exactly three days.  Under this definition, delivery of 100 percent of the mail in exactly three days would be better than delivery of 50 percent of the mail in two days and 50 percent of the mail in three days.  In fact, a 50-50 split would reflect maximum inconsistency.  If any customers exist who prefer delivery service that conforms to this second definition, these customers would frown if 50 percent of their mail were delivered in two days and 50 percent were delivered in three days, while they would smile if none of their mail were delivered in two days and 100 percent were delivered in three days.


The Postal Service’s justification for changing service standards from two days to three days requires customer preferences to conform to the second definition of consistency.
  Under the first definition, speed is always important, while under the second definition customers supposedly are willing to forgo speed in favor of day-certain delivery in three days.  The Postal Service has not shown that any customers fitting the second definition exist, let alone that these preferences reflect the wishes of the majority of postal customers.


The Postal Service provided data from the External First-Class Measurement System (EXFC) on point-to-point delivery performance between certain districts that suffered downgrades from two days to three days.
  USPS-LR-15.  These data provide an opportunity to examine and evaluate the results of the changes in service standards.  The Excel file titled “Appendix2.xls” provided as Appendix 2 to this testimony reflects my analysis of the data provided in USPS-LR-15.

A.
Average Number of Days to Delivery

The average number of days to delivery is a straightforward measure of the speed of mail delivery.  The average number of days to delivery probably is the best metric to determine the Postal Service’s compliance with section 101(e)’s requirement that the Postal Service give “highest consideration to the prompt and economical delivery of all mail.” 

Out of 255 origin-destination pairs in the excerpt of data provided, the number of days to delivery increased in 240 of the pairs.  The number of days to delivery decreased in 14 of the pairs, and it remained the same in one pair.  The average days to delivery was approximately 0.7 days slower.
  Therefore, one predictable result came true: mail delivery slowed.

B.
On-Time Percentage


The on-time percentage measures the percentage of mail that is delivered within the number of days prescribed by the service standard.


Out of 255 origin-destination pairs, the on-time percentage increased in 189 pairs.  The on-time percentage decreased in 64 pairs, and it remained the same in two pairs.  This improvement in on-time percentage came at the expense of speed.  Since most customers do not know the specific service standard for delivery of their mail, only the Postal Service is likely to congratulate itself for this accomplishment.  

Consider customers — either senders or recipients, since one or both customers may care about speed of delivery — using First-Class Mail to transmit correspondence from Portland, Oregon, to San Diego.  The on-time percentage rose from 85.6 percent in two days in FY 1999 to 87.4 percent in three days in FY 2002.  The Postal Service probably was pleased to report to the public that the percentage of mail delivered “on time” rose.  For customers, however, average days to delivery increased 0.8 days.  Common sense suggests that only the Postal Service derived a victory from these numbers.  For customers, service declined.

C.
Variability in Delivery Time


Under the second definition of consistency, the frequency with which mail is delivered on a particular day is important.  Higher variability
 in delivery time leads to lower consistency.  If 90 percent of mail is delivered in three days and 10 percent is delivered in two days, the variability is less than if 50 percent of the mail is delivered in two days and 50 percent is delivered in three days.  To describe variability mathematically, I calculated the absolute value of the difference between the percentage of mail delivered in two days and the percentage of mail delivered in three days.  For a split of 90 percent in three days and 10 percent in two days, I assigned a variability number of 80.  For a split of 50 percent in two days and 50 percent in three days, I assigned a variability number of 0.  A variability number of 0 represents the highest possible variability, whereas a high variability number (up to 100) represents the lowest possible variability.


For each of the 255 pairs, I calculated the variability in delivery between two days and three days in FY 2002 and compared it to the variability in FY 1999.  Of the 255 pairs, the variability increased in 157 of the pairs, decreased in 96 of the pairs, and remained the same in two pairs.  The justification for slowing mail delivery was to reduce variability, yet the opposite result occurred: variability increased (and delivery slowed).


An example will help to make the variability calculation intuitive.  In FY 1999, mail from Seattle to Sacramento was delivered in exactly two days 60.4 percent of the time and in exactly three days 18.9 percent of the time.  The variability number is 41.5.  In words, a majority of the mail was delivered in two days.  In FY 2002, the mail was delivered in exactly two days 39.7 percent of the time and in exactly three days 39.1 percent of the time.  In words, delivery times were fairly evenly split between two days and three days.  Delivery times now are much more variable than before.  The variability number is 0.6.  Mathematically, the variability in FY 2002 is higher than in FY 1999 because the variability number of 0.6 for FY 2002 is smaller than the variability number of 41.5 for FY 1999.

D.
Consistency


Speed of delivery clearly declined.  Therefore, the Postal Service must hope that consistency improved.


Under the first definition of consistency, consistency increased because the percentage of mail delivered on time increased in 74 percent of the pairs.  However, under this first definition, customers’ top desire is speedy delivery.  Speed of delivery declined in 240 of the 255 pairs.  These customers are worse off now because their mail delivery is slower than before.  Most customers do not even know the Postal Service’s service standard for the mail that they send, so the Postal Service’s higher on-time percentage is, indeed, mostly self-congratulatory.  The higher on-time percentage is meaningless to most customers.  They see only the slowdown in the delivery of their mail.


Under the second definition of consistency, the Postal Service reduced the variability in the number of days to delivery for only 96 of 255 pairs — a dismal 37.6 percent of the pairs.  This modest improvement of a questionable metric came at the expense of slowing delivery in 240 of 255 pairs.  Meanwhile, in 157 pairs, variability actually increased. 


In 152 of 255 pairs,
 the Postal Service slowed mail delivery and increased the variability.  In 51 pairs — one fifth of the total — the Postal Service slowed mail delivery, increased the variability, and reduced the on-time percentage — a failure in all three categories.


By any objective measure, the changes in service standards are a failure.  They represent a drop in the quality and level of First-Class Mail service.  Speed of delivery, the most-important metric and the only consideration that section 101(e) permits, declined in 240 of 255 pairs.  In nearly 60 percent of pairs, the Postal Service slowed delivery and increased variability in the number of days to delivery.  And in 20 percent of the pairs, the Postal Service managed to slow delivery, increase variability, and reduce the on-time percentage, despite having an extra day to deliver the mail.  While the percent of mail delivered within the service standard increased overall, this victory is self-congratulatory for the Postal Service because most customers do not know the specific service standard for the mail that they send.  Customers care about speed, and speed declined.  Besides, the improvement in on-time delivery came at the expense of speed.

The gap between customer needs and Postal Service self-evaluation can be seen by examining mail delivery from Seattle to Sacramento.  For customers, 60.4 percent of their mail was delivered in two days in FY 1999, while only 39.7 percent was delivered in two days in FY 2002.  Delivery slowed.  If anyone cares, variability increased dramatically (using variability numbers, variability increased from 41.5 in FY 1999 to 0.6 in FY 2002).  Postal customers clearly have received the short end of the deal.  Meanwhile, postal managers probably congratulated themselves for improving the on-time percentage from 74.8 percent in FY 1999 to 78.7 percent in FY 2002.

This review of data should demonstrate why sections 101(e) and 101(f) compel postal managers to focus their attention, at all times, on speed of delivery.  By changing service standards and suggesting that customers prefer the Postal Service’s definition of consistency to speed, the Postal Service has suggested to the public that the changes in service standards improved service.  In reality, the changes have significantly diminished the quality of service.  Sections 101(e) and 101(f) exist to prevent the Postal Service from using words and language to obscure a diminution in the speed of mail delivery.  These sections require the Postal Service to give the highest consideration to prompt or expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail.  The Postal Service violated these sections when it implemented the changes in service standards at issue in this proceeding.  The Postal Service subsequently exacerbated the effects of the decline in service by failing to inform the public of the changes in service standards.

E.
Notice to Public of Service Standards


 As I have explained previously, most customers are not aware of the specific service standard that applies to mail that they send.  This lack of information may cause customers to make unwise choices for the type of delivery service.  For example, a customer who wants a letter delivered in two days may use Priority Mail or an expensive competitor delivery service when, in reality, the customer could expect delivery in two days with regular First-Class Mail.


The Postal Service provides delivery-standard information at retail terminals in most post offices.  In past years, the delivery standards often were incorrect,
 but this problem may have been corrected.  Based on my observations, window clerks typically do not use this service-standard information in their discussions with customers.  But sharp-eyed customers can see the service-standard information flash by on the display screens at retail counters.


The Postal Service Web site also provides service-standard information in the domestic rate calculator.  At one point in 2001, the information did not reflect the most-recent changes in service standards.  I have not analyzed the accuracy of the service standards currently provided on the Web site.


Nonetheless, assuming data-quality problems have been or will be resolved, retail terminals and the Postal Service Web site provide service-standard information.  In addition, the Postal Service mails a Service Standards CD-ROM to customers who request it.  While the graphical representations on this CD are excellent, the CD is not widely publicized, and only 732 customers receive it.  DFC-USPS-GAN-56.  In my estimation and experience, most customers are not aware of the existence or availability of service-standard information.


In the St. Louis area and in southern Maine, the Postal Service has placed a label on collection boxes that shows the overnight, two-day, and three-day delivery areas for First-Class Mail.  In 2002, I photographed these labels.  Figures 2 and 3 show a label on a collection box in East Saint Louis, Illinois, and figures 4 and 5 show the label on a collection box in southern Maine.

Figure 2.  Collection Box in East Saint Louis, Illinois
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Figure 3.  Close-up of Collection Box Label in East Saint Louis, Illinois
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Figure 4.  Collection Box in Southern Maine
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Figure 5.  Close-Up of Collection Box Label in Southern Maine
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Both maps present incorrect — presumably outdated — service-standard information.  However, the idea is good, and the Postal Service should consider posting service-standard information on collection boxes nationwide.  I am confident that customers would find this information useful, interesting, and informative.  This information would enable customers to make better shipping decisions.  Indeed, by publicizing this information, the Postal Service may encourage customers to use First-Class Mail because some customers probably do not realize that some service standards are as fast as they are.  At the same time, this information will properly warn customers that a service standard may be slower than expected, particularly as a result of the changes that the Postal Service implemented in 2000 and 2001.

The Postal Service also should place a form of the Service Standards CD-ROM on the Web site for the public to access to obtain service-standard maps, as carriers such as UPS and Airborne Express already provide.

V.
Nevada Reversal


When I filed this complaint, I specifically noted the change in the service standard from two days to three days for mail between Reno and Las Vegas.  Complaint at ¶¶ 23 and 28.  As a result of this change, customers in Las Vegas received three-day mail service to their state capital in Carson City (SCF Reno NV).  In 2002, the Postal Service restored a two-day delivery standard, noting in a newspaper article
 that two-day mail service was possible between Reno and Las Vegas.  Quotes in the article from Postal Service spokesman Vic Fenimore are revealing.  First, Mr. Fenimore stated, “The three-day standard from Carson City and Reno to Las Vegas didn’t make that much sense to us.  We lobbied for an exception and we got it.”  Second, according to Mr. Fenimore, “It doesn’t make sense to have cities in our own state be three-day delivery zones.”  The Commission must ask why three-day mail service within California and other states makes any more sense than three-day service within Nevada.  The Commission also must ask which other three-day service standards do not make sense.


The restoration of two-day mail service is no doubt due to negative publicity on the front page of the Reno Gazette-Journal.

VI.
Conclusion and Recommendations


In this testimony, I have explained and criticized the use of a 12-hour computer-projected truck drive time as the determinant of service standards for First-Class Mail.  I have shown that the decision to abandon air transportation violated sections 101(e) and 101(f) because the Postal Service failed to give the highest consideration to the prompt or expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail.  Through examples, I have shown the presence of illogical service standards.  These examples include nonreciprocal service standards between cities, the pseudo ADC’s in California, and instances in which mail arrives at the destination ADC before the critical entry time of 18:00, yet this mail is still assigned a three-day delivery standard.

The Commission’s public report should duly recite the procedural and legal flaws in the Postal Service’s implementation of the changes in service standards.  These flaws include the Postal Service’s failure to obtain an advisory opinion from the Commission pursuant to section 3661(b) prior to implementing the changes in service standards.  The Postal Service also violated sections 101(e) and 101(f) because, in setting postal policies and selecting modes of transportation, the Postal Service failed to give the highest consideration to the prompt or most-expeditious transportation and delivery of important letter mail.  In addition, the Postal Service is violating section 3661(b) by not providing efficient postal services.  When two-day delivery is possible, the Postal Service must provide it.  In the absent of efficient postal services, customers are forced to take expensive and inefficient steps to send mail for which customers need delivery in two days.  Lastly, the Postal Service may not be providing adequate service pursuant to section 3661(a), as the Postal Service changed service standards from two days to three days between city pairs whose volume exceeded the 0.5-percent threshold.

Participants have invested considerable effort in this proceeding for more than two years.  While the Postal Service fully deserves public criticism and rebuke for its actions, ultimately this proceeding should serve to advise and assist the Postal Service in correcting some of the problems.  At minimum, the Commission should recommend that the Postal Service take the following actions:

1. Restore two-day delivery service in all instances in which existing transportation that is currently in use permits two-day delivery.  For example, the truck from San Francisco to San Diego arrives at 17:30, 
30 minutes prior to the critical entry time for two-day mail.  This service standard should be changed to two days;

2. Acknowledge problems with interactions between the pseudo-ADC network in California and the nationwide model for service standards and implement service improvements in California;

3. Determine the needs of customers for two-day mail service between cities to ensure provision of adequate service pursuant to section 3661(a);

4. Restore the use of air transportation to provide two-day service where customer need exists;

5. Restore the use of air transportation between city pairs for which service levels — average days to delivery and on-time delivery percentage — declined after the change in service standards.

6. Evaluate whether the FedEx contract presents an opportunity to use reliable dedicated air transportation for two-day service.  As a starting point, the Postal Service should consider using FedEx transportation to restore two-day delivery between city pairs that exceed the 0.5-percent threshold.

7. Eliminate nonreciprocal service standards unless a compelling operational need justifies them.

8. Eliminate three-day service standards for mail between adjacent areas and within states.

9. Provide service-standard information on collection-box labels.

10. Provide service-standard maps on the Postal Service Web site.

While the rapid development of Internet and other electronic communica​tions renders the Postal Service’s role in the 21st century somewhat uncertain, one conclusion is inescapable: The Postal Service will not improve growth or stem a decline in First-Class Mail volume by slowing delivery service.  The changes in service standards in 2000 and 2001 were a poorly timed step in the wrong direction.  The Postal Reorganization Act does not permit the Postal Service to slow mail delivery under the guise of supposedly improving service by increasing “consistency” of delivery.  The nation has a stake in fast and efficient First-Class Mail service, and customers should resist attempts by the Postal Service to weaken First-Class Mail service.  Section 3662 exists to permit customers to challenge these attempts.  I trust that the Postal Service will duly consider and implement the recommendations that result from the efforts of all parties and the Commission in this proceeding.

APPENDIX 1

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

I received a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of California, Berkeley, in 1990 and a law degree from Boalt Hall School of Law at UC Berkeley in 1994.  I have been employed as assistant dean in the Division of Social Sciences at the University of California, Santa Cruz, since 2000.  Previously, I was employed at the University of California, Berkeley, for six years.  I live in Santa Cruz, California.  


I provided testimony to the Postal Rate Commission on post-office-box service in Docket No. MC96-3.  In Docket No. R97-1, I provided testimony on the rate and fee for stamped cards, problems with return-receipt service, and problems with post-office-box service.  In Docket No. C2001-1, I provided testimony on problems with collection services on holidays and eves of holidays.

� 	The lowest rate for Priority Mail is $3.85.


� 	After the changes were implemented, the Postal Service reorganized the areas, eliminating two.


�	The Postal Service eliminated Sunday collection service without obtaining an advisory opinion from the Commission.  Docket No. C2001-1.  The Postal Service also has significantly changed collection services without obtaining an advisory opinion.  See Docket No. C2003-1.


� In the 1992 reorganization, the Postal Service divided its field operations into two parts: processing and distribution on one side, and customer service and sales on the other side.  Postal retail and delivery functions, including post offices and postmasters, are on the customer service and sales side.  P&DC’s and P&DF’s are on the processing and distribution side.  Each P&DC and P&DF has a plant manager.  While almost all outgoing mail is processed at a P&DC or P&DF, some cities are too small to support a facility that is designated as a P&DC or P&DF.  These cities process outgoing mail in a local post office, often using the same type of mechanized and automated equipment that a P&DC or P&DF would use.  A postmaster oversees these operations.  These facilities are called “customer service facilities.”  Customer service facilities resemble P&DC’s and P&DF’s except in size.  Examples of customer service facilities include Eureka, California; Mojave, California; and Fairbanks, Alaska.


� A limited number of examples exist in which a three-digit ZIP Code area is served by more than one P&DC.


�	Some P&DC’s and P&DF’s do not process their own outgoing mail on Saturdays and some holidays.  Instead, they send their mail to another P&DC for processing under a consolidation plan.  In most instances, post offices still send their outgoing mail to the P&DC that serves their area, and then the containers of mail are consolidated at that facility and transported to the other P&DC for processing.


� Originating facilities may designate direct bins on automated letter sorting equipment to hold out mail destined to certain high-volume recipients, such as credit-card companies.  These exceptions do not affect the discussion of the issues in this proceeding.


� The service standard from Cheyenne to San Francisco was downgraded from two days to three days circa 1991.


�	Although this map is from a Postal Service publication, some of the three-digit postmarks indicated on the map are not correct.  However, these errors are not important for this discussion.


� In USPS-LR-1 (file OCA-12B-2.xls), the Postal Service refers to the Santa Clarita P&DC as the Van Nuys P&DC.  Since travel distances are important for this analysis and the P&DC is, in fact, located in Santa Clarita, which is north of Van Nuys, I will refer to it as the Santa Clarita P&DC.


� The California post offices that are served by the Reno P&DC have ZIP Codes beginning with 961.


� The record is not entirely clear on this point.  It is possible that the AADC mail for AADC’s other than Los Angeles is off-loaded in Ontario, Worldway (Los Angeles AMC), or Van Nuys, thus expediting the transfer of this mail directly to the destination P&DC.  See DFC/USPS-GAN-61(b).  This arrangement may exist for AADC mail destined to AADC’s in ADC Sequoia CA as well.


� These post offices are Coleville and Topaz.


� Of course, service standards also must bear some semblance to reality.  An overnight service standard between New York and Seattle may not be realistic, no matter how much customers may want overnight service.  The Postal Service has not shown that the two-day service standards at issue in this proceeding were not realistic.  In fact, the Postal Service was achieving delivery in two days a substantial percentage of the time.


� The Postal Service provided data only when a district in one of the following states was affected by a downgrade: Washington, Oregon, California, Idaho, Nevada, Utah, Arizona, New Mexico, Colorado, Montana, Wyoming, or Texas.  DFC/USPS-9.


� I calculated an average of the difference in delivery speed for each of the pairs provided in Appendix 2 (Sheet “Carlson Analysis”).  This average is 0.7 days.  This average is not weighted based on the volume of mail travelling between each pair.


� “Variability” does not carry the meaning of the statistical term “variance.” 


� Variability increased in 157 pairs.  In five of these pairs, delivery speed increased.  Therefore, in 152 pairs variability increased and delivery speed decreased.


� See, generally, DFC-T34 interrogatories to witness Robinson in Docket No. R2000-1.


� “U.S. Postal Service Restores Two-Day Delivery in Nevada,” Reno Gazette-Journal, July 15, 2002.


� “Narrower Delivery Zones Slow Western Mail Delivery”, Reno Gazette-Journal, August 3, 2001.
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